
2006 ANNUAL REPORT

THE YEAR BEHIND. THE ROAD AHEAD.



RIFCO VALUES

> Facing Reality   We face up to internal and external situations. Good news  
  or bad news, we accurately and authentically see things  
  as they are. 

> Innovation Creative thinking is employed by each of us in all aspects  
  of our business.

> Collaboration  Whether it is teams of employees or partnering with 
  external organizations or customers, we work toward  
  ‘win-win’ solutions.

> Integrity  We offer truthfulness in promises, in reports, in marketing, 
  in everything.

> Accountability  We are results driven. We set goals, develop a plan, execute,  
  evaluate.

> Excellence The standard for performance at RIFCO has been set at 
  the level of excellence. The status quo is not good enough, 
  we strive to get better.

> Reward We assess performance in order to best determine 
  compensation.
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($000’s, except ratios and per share amounts)     

  2006   2005   2004 

At year end:

Managed Finance Receivables(1)  13,785   9,005   4,122
Total Assets  8,930   5,981   4,543
Total Liabilities  5,015   3,024   3,732
Shareholders Equity  3,915   2,956   811
Book Value per Share Outstanding(1) $ 0.25   $ 0.21   $ 0.07 
Stock Price $ 0.58   $ 0.90   $ 0.50  

For the Year:      

Finance Receivables Originated(1)  12,988   9,771   4,760 
Total Revenues  3,878   3,818   1,410 
Net Income (Loss)  -245   336   -304 
Active Locations  670   643   469 
Applications Processed  5,524   6,412   3,184 

Income per Common Share:      

Basic   -0.02   0.03   -0.03 
Diluted  -0.02   0.03   -0.03 

Ratios:      

Return on Average Shareholders Equity  -6.25 %  19.44 %  -53.66 %
Return on Average Earning Assets(2)  -2.32 %  2.00 %  -10.70 % 
Managed Financial Leverage(2)  2.95:1  2.30:1  4.36:1 
Average Cost of Borrowing(2)  9.11 %  8.48 %  10.00 %
Efficiency Ratio(2)  67.46 %  69.04 %  91.44 % 
Operating Expense Ratio(2)  18.13 %  22.25 %  36.10 % 
Delinquency over 30 days(2)  2.33 %  4.30 %  3.30 % 
Annualized Loss Rate(2)  6.50 %  4.95 %  4.93 %

(1)  Certain financial information presented and ratios may not be derived from our financial statements and may include non-GAAP measures. The presentation is  
 disclosed herein to permit more complete comparative analysis of our performance relative to other companies. These indicators should not be considered a  
 substitute or alternative to net income or cash flow. The basis of calculating ratios should be read in conjunction with the MD & A.

(2)  Calculated on a managed basis. The managed basis, which is a non-GAAP measure, consolidates balances and/or activities from our securitization trusts, whereby  
 receivables have been sold by us to a securitization trust that are not consolidated under Canadian GAAP. We continue to service the receivables. 
  
  
 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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> Strengthened Board of Directors with addition of Mr. David Mears

> Strengthened key senior management positions in marketing & operations

> Completed a private placement of $1M in equity

> Convertible debenture for $1M repaid from working capital

> Completed a replenishment of the $20M securitization facility

> Acquired a new $4.5M senior debt credit line with Bank of Montreal 
(increased from $2.5M) 

> Increased shareholder equity to $3.91M up from $2.97M

> Completed a re-branding of our point of sale image for the repair loan 
products

> Signed agreements with three national repair chains 

> Increased active network to 670 from 643

> Processed 5,524 loan applications, down from 6,414 the previous year

> Grew loan originations to $13M, up 33% over the previous year

> Increased total managed receivables to $13.78M up 53% over the  
previous year

> Profit Magazine ranked RIFCO as the 5th fastest growing young company  
in Canada

> Alberta Venture Magazine ranked RIFCO 9th on the fast 50 list

> Loan losses increased to an annualized charge off rate of 6.5% 

> Revenue at $3.88M up from $3.82M 

> Reported net loss of $0.25M as compared to a previous net income of 
$0.34M

> Return on average shareholders equity negative 6.25% down from 19.44%

> Stock price dropped to $0.58 from $0.90 a year ago

> TSX venture exchange promoted RIFCO from tier 2 to a tier 1 listed company

STRATEGIC, OPERATING  
& FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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RIFCO Inc. (TSXV: RFC) operates through its wholly owned subsidiary Repair 
Industry Finance Corporation. RIFCO is a specialty consumer finance corporation 
with a focus on the automotive and heavy duty aftermarket industries. 

RIFCO provides Automotive and Commercial Repair Financing and Vehicle 
Purchase Financing to mid-market/non-prime motorists through a growing 
network of licensed repair facilities and selected new and used vehicle retailers. 
Revenue is derived from interest charged on loans as well as fees earned at loan 
origination. The company also derives gain-on-sale revenue from securitizing 
groups of loans for amounts greater than their aggregate book value.

RIFCO’s Customers benefit by being able to convert major repair or purchase 
costs into affordable monthly payments, in a quick and convenient manner at 
the point-of-sale and time-of-need. 

Repair facilities and vehicle retailers benefit by being able to offer customers a 
means of financing repairs and/or vehicle purchases enabling those businesses 
to compete effectively to increase their sales and profits.

RIFCO is committed to continuing growth. Key strategies for 

achieving this growth include the expansion of its network, 

ever-increasing leverage of this network, excellence in credit 

and collections processes, and exceptional service to its network 

members and its customers.

MISSION STATEMENT

“RIFCO Inc. provides superior 
shareholder returns, by delivering 

innovative non-prime financial 
services, through channel 

partners, who benefit by achieving 
increased sales and profits.” COMPANY PROFILE
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PRESIDENT AND CEO’S MESSAGE

The year ending March 31, 2006, has been one holding many breakthroughs for 
our company. RIFCO is demonstrating marketplace acceptance of its repair loan 
product as is evidenced by strategic industry partnerships.

RIFCO grants loans within the automotive repair, auto purchase and heavy duty 
truck repair markets. These markets already generate over a billion dollars in 
annual non-prime loans and each are growing. We grew RIFCO’s originations 
a significant 33% and managed finance receivables 53% over the prior year 
though we have yet to achieve meaningful overall penetration rates. The market 
opportunity before us is truly staggering. More important than RIFCO’s growth 
or penetration rate this year, we made great strides to strengthen the company 
in order to hasten our presence in these exceptional market niches. As we 
aggressively pursue our growth initiatives, we maintain focus on our primary 
objective of creating shareholder value.

RIFCO made key investments in human resources this year. Noteworthy among 
the investments are additions to RIFCO’s senior management ranks. Doug 
Decksheimer joined RIFCO as its Vice President of Marketing and Monte Coates 
as RIFCO’s Vice President of Operations. Their outstanding professionalism and 
commitment to the company represent key contributions to this year’s progress.

Our efforts to improve market awareness and acceptance have begun to be 
fruitful. RIFCO’s point-of-sale re-branding to ‘Pay on the Way’ has been extremely 
well received by both our automotive and commercial repairer partners. As a 
clear demonstration of our industry momentum specifically in the automotive 
aftermarket, our fourth quarter was punctuated with individual marketing 
agreements with Kal Tire, CARSTAR Automotive Canada, and Mister Transmission. 
These chains are leaders in their respective niches and will provide RIFCO with 
excellent loan origination opportunities through over 325 points of sale.

RIFCO embarked on a sensible yet competitive auto purchase loan program. 
Take up of the new program is meeting our expectations. RIFCO’s program 
is focused on premium independent and smaller franchise dealers in the 
Canadian Marketplace. These dealers may be underserved by other lenders. 
RIFCO’s program is designed to compete with the large dynamic players in the 
non-prime vehicle purchase market place. We undertake to out service our 
competitors on a deal by deal basis. We are pleased that the program has thus 
far provided a better than expected credit quality-to-yield ratio for these loans.

In response to anticipated growth, the fourth quarter saw the company 
complete several capital initiatives to improve its balance sheet strength. We 
closed a $1M non-brokered private placement and successfully negotiated a 
new, larger, senior debt credit line of $4.5M. RIFCO’s securitization facility was 
replenished with a new $20M funding capacity for the upcoming year. Access to 
capital remains a critical success factor for the company. The company is actively 
pursuing increased and improved funding solutions that, if achieved in a timely 
manner, could allow for even faster progress toward stated goals.

Based on the momentum 

that we achieved in the 

latter part of the year, we 

are providing the following 

performance objectives for 

the coming year.

> Double loan originations 

 to over $25M

> Double loan receivables  

 under management to  

 over $26M

> Increase revenue to  

 over $7M

> Achieve managed  

 finance receivables  

 annualized write offs  

 under 5.0%

> Achieve net income  

 of $0.7M
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The company made several fundamental adaptations in improving its 
collections results. RIFCO hired a strong, experienced, leader for the department 
who immediately began a systematic re-training and re-staffing program for 
the department. RIFCO invested in new collection technology this year that has 
resulted in improvements in efficiency, record keeping, customer service, and 
collector management. Delinquent loans (over 30 days) have been cut in half 
from a high of almost 6% down to a record low 2.33% at year end.

RIFCO’s operating expense ratio continued to improve this year. When reporting 
this ratio, a lower number represents improved operational efficiency. In 2005, 
RIFCO reported its expense ratio at 22.25% down from 36.10% in 2004. I am 
pleased to report that the ratio for this year has shown a noteworthy reduction 
to an annual rate of 18.13%. We will continue to drive this number lower in 
coming quarters.

In the 2005 Annual Report to the Shareholders, RIFCO had set 8 ‘specific 
objectives’ for the 2006 fiscal year. RIFCO’s performance improvement was 
delayed and did not meet targeted expectations within the fiscal year.

> Increase the ‘active’ origination network to 1,100
 The ‘active’ origination network has increased to 670 from 643. 

> Increase loan originations to over $15M.
 Loan originations reached $13M, representing 33% increase over the  

prior year.

> Increase managed finance receivables under management to over $16M.
 Managed finance receivables under management grew to $13.8M a 53% 

increase over the prior year. 

> Decrease the average cost of borrowing.
 Average cost of borrowing increased to 9.11% from 8.48% in the prior year. 

> Increase revenue to over $5M.
 Revenue reached $3.88M up from $3.82M. 

> Increase net income to over $0.5M.
 RIFCO achieved a net loss for the year of $0.25M compared to a net income 

in the prior year of $0.34M. 

> Maintain managed finance receivables annualized write offs under 5.0%
 RIFCO’s annualized write off rate for the year was 6.5% up from 4.95% in the 

prior year. 

> See meaningful growth in the company’s stock price.
 RIFCO’s stock price decreased by 35.5% and closed at $0.58 at year end. 

RIFCO was 5th on the 2005 

Profit Hot 50 list of Canada’s 

top growing companies.
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Alberta Venture Magazine 

ranked RIFCO 9th on the 

fast 50 list.

As was disclosed in earlier releases, RIFCO began the year with very little growth 
momentum. Regaining this momentum proved one of the substantial challenges 
for this year. Revised and improved strategies were employed to ensure that 
the company was positioned to achieve long term growth of shareholder value 
within its market niche. This progress is best demonstrated by contrasting this 
year’s fourth quarter with this year’s first quarter:

> Loan applications received increased 30.6%,

> Loan originations increased 116.4%,

> Revenues increased 68.8%,

> Delinquency was reduced almost in half,

> Operating Expense Ratio reached a record low 16.75%.

> Earnings before income tax improved from an $88K loss to a $175K gain!

It is additionally encouraging that the loan originations in the second half of 
the year were 177% of loan originations in the first half. We have now regained 
strong growth momentum as we progress into the next year.

I am also pleased that RIFCO’s Board of Directors was strengthened last year 
with the addition of Mr. David Mears who will bring valuable capital market 
experience to the company.

RIFCO’s employees are committed to the Company. Their efforts have been 
integral in our accomplishments thus far. I thank them for their commitment to 
RIFCO’s values.

It is an exciting time to be a part of RIFCO; please join us at RIFCO’s Annual 
Shareholders Meeting occurs on September 7th, 2006. I look forward to meeting 
you to discuss this report and answer your questions.

The meeting will be held at 3:00 PM at the Calgary Chamber of Commerce, 100 
- 6th Avenue S.W. Calgary, Alberta.

W.R. (Bill) Graham  
CEO, President & Director 



• No payment for 60 days

• Quick approval process

• Easy payment terms
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION 
AND ANALYSIS

The following discussion should be read in conjunction 
with the financial statements and notes thereto and the 
comparative summary of selected financial information 
appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report. Historical 
results and trends should not be taken as indicative of 
future operations. This information in this report is correct 
as of June 30th, 2006.

This report contains forward-looking statements and 
actual results may differ materially.

RIFCO - OVERVIEW 

RIFCO INC. (RIFCO) operating through Repair Industry 
Finance Corporation is engaged in the specialty consumer 
finance business providing point of sale financing 
with a focus on the automotive aftermarket industry. 
The Company provides Automotive Repair Financing, 
Commercial Vehicle Repair Financing and Vehicle 
Purchase Financing to mid-market motorists through a 
growing network of licensed repair facilities and select 

new and used vehicle retailers. The Company operates in 
Alberta, Ontario, British Columbia and Manitoba. 

In the fiscal year ending March 31, 2006, RIFCO’s revenue 
was stable at $3.88M versus $3.82M in the prior year. 
Net income decreased to a loss of $244,585 from a prior 
year profit of $336,246. Loan originations increased to 
$12.99M from $9.77M in the prior year, a 33% increase. 
Total managed assets now exceed $13.78M from $9.00M 
one year ago. The point of sale network increased to 670 
active locations from 643.

The Selected Financial Information and the MD&A with 
the Results of Operations should be read in conjunction 
with the consolidated financial statements and related 
notes for the period ending March 31, 2006. The 
results of operations and its cash flows for the periods 
are in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles. In order to illustrate certain trends, 
management has chosen to present certain non-GAAP 
results in addition to GAAP reporting.

Selected Financial Information

 Annual 2006  Annual 2005   Annual 2004  Annual 2003 
Revenue  3,877,544  3,818,123  1,409,998  408,460  
Net Earnings (Loss)  (244,585 ) 336,246  (304,454 ) (236,996 )
Total Assets  8,930,436  5,980,991  4,542,704  2,157,517
Shareholders Equity  3,914,978  2,956,498  810,921  619,909
Total Liabilities  5,015,458  3,024,493  3,731,783  1,537,608
Earnings (Loss) per share – Basic  (0.02 )  0.03   (0.03 ) (0.03 )
Earnings (Loss) per share – Diluted  (0.02 ) 0.03  (0.03 ) (0.03 )
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In the last year net earning results deteriorated from a 
$336,246 net profit, to a $244,585 net loss. There are a 
number of reasons.

> We experienced higher loan losses in our former auto 
loan program which took our annualized loan loss rate 
to 6.50% from our target of 5.0%. The high risk portion 
of this program has been phased out in favor of an 
improved program. During the year we also identified 
a number of loans where the underlying asset had 
been seized and liquidated by RIFCO, but the loan had 
not been written off. These two items totaled about 
$200,000 in increased loan losses over the norm.

> RIFCO had a year of almost a complete overlap on two 
senior management positions and their expenses due 
to a transitional hand off period. The additional cost to 
the company was $147,000.

> Included in the Income tax expense is a provision 
for a tax reassessment of $43,890 in association 
with the corporation’s non-capital loss for 2003 & 
2005. A notice of objection has been filed on the 
reassessment.

> The Bank of Canada Prime rate increased 1.25% during 
the year and our floating rate debt was affected by 
the increase.

Management is confident that this was a transition year 
and we project a return to solid profitability with an after 
tax profit of $700,000 and $0.04 per share in earnings, 
based on 16 Million shares issued. Shareholders should 
be encouraged by the very positive gains made this 
year in loan originations, delinquency reported and the 
return to net profits in Q4 as evidenced in the “Summary 
of Quarterly Results” table.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

RIFCO reported a net loss of $244,585 for the year ending 
March 31, 2006, as compared to a profit of $336,246 for the 
year ending March 31, 2005. The Financial Revenue and Net 
Financial income at March 31, 2006 are virtually the same 
as the prior year. The operating results were negatively 
impacted by increased wage expenses, increased 
provision for credit losses and increased provision for loan 
prepayment losses on securitized loans.

During the year RIFCO completed a number of initiatives. 
Firstly, the company strengthened the organization by 
replacing two senior managers and most of its sales force. 
A complete re-branding of our point of sale message and 
image was completed to work with our new national 
partners. Secondly, the highest rate and highest risk 
tier of RIFCO’s auto finance program was discontinued 
due to unacceptable credit losses. Thirdly, the company 
strengthened and updated its collection infrastructure 

and processes in order to reduce frequency and severity of 
credit losses. Fourthly, the company developed corporate 
agreements with three national auto repair chains in order 
to increase repair loan origination growth.

With these initiatives positively impacting results in the 
last part of the year, the company achieved net income 
before taxes in Q4 of $175,000. We are confident that 
future quarters will continue to demonstrate continued 
positive results. 

Loan securitization is the manner in which RIFCO expects 
to fund a percentage of its loan growth moving forward. 
The Company plans to regularly sell finance receivables 
into special purpose trust entities, in which the Company 
is not a beneficiary, in order to provide increasing cash 
resources for loan originations. Upon completion of a 
sale the Company de-recognizes the finance receivables 
as an asset. Servicing of the finance receivables remains 
RIFCO’s responsibility. The special purpose trust entities 
retain a portion of the proceeds, the “Cash Reserve”, to 
reduce its exposure to potential loan losses. The total of 
the cash reserve is RIFCO’s maximum exposure to credit 
losses. The Company retains conditional ownership 
through a retained interest in finance receivables 
securitized and funds are released to RIFCO as the 
portfolio is collected.

In 2006, the Company completed securitizations totaling 
$8.03M for a net gain on sale of $1.85M, and over $.66M 
was released back to RIFCO from the cash reserve. 
Revenue and income levels may fluctuate in part due to 
the amount of loans sold during a reporting period. 

REVENUES 

INTEREST INCOME

Interest income is earned on finance receivables. 
This amount varies based on the average balance of 
receivables and the rate of yield within the outstanding 
loan receivables. For the year ending March 31, 2006, 
interest income was $1,121,393, a decrease from 
$1,687,591, or 33.6% from the comparative period in 
2005. The decrease is primarily caused by the reduced 
average balances of on-book finance receivables during 
the year. 

The annualized portfolio yield on a managed basis was 
23.77%, down .53% from 24.30% in the prior year which is 
due to the larger portion of higher credit quality, lower risk, 
lower rate, longer term auto loans being granted. As the 
highest rate loans repay faster in relation to low rate loans, 
the proportion of auto loans in our managed assets grows 
at a faster rate, which has an affect on overall yields. 

The on-book loan portfolio had an average yield of 
23.27%, and the securitized assets under management 
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had an average yield of 24.20% on a managed basis. 
Average portfolio yield is calculated by dividing interest 
income over average finance receivables. Automotive 
repair loans are all granted at 27.8% per annum and 
commercial repair loans at 21.8%. Vehicle purchase loans 
are granted using a risk based pricing model between 
14.5% and 29.9%.

INCOME FROM SECURITIZED ASSETS

During the year, the Company sold tranches of loans with a 
book value of $8,032,959 for proceeds of $9,988,113 and a 
gain on sale of $1,940,561 after $14,593 in transaction costs. 

The loans are sold on a fully serviced basis and in the year 
an additional $111,358 was accrued for servicing liability. 

ADMINISTRATION AND OTHER FEES 

Fee income is generated primarily at the time of loan 
originations. The Company earns a commission on the 
sale of Life & Disability Insurance and earns document 
fees at the point of loan origination on some loans. In 
addition, RIFCO earns collection, administration and 
enrollment fees through the administration of loans 
& earns fees from enrollment of new repairer/dealers 
into the RIFCO network.
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(1)  The managed column assumes amounts held in our securitization trusts have been consolidated. The consolidation entries have not been shown. The 
managed basis is not a GAAP measure.

(2)  Income from securitized assets is eliminated upon the presentation of the managed basis and therefore is not included in the managed column or in the 
calculation of net financing margin percentage. The gain on sale of receivables on a GAAP basis considers expected credit losses, which are not included as a 
component of net financing income on a managed basis. Therefore revenues on a managed basis are higher than on a GAAP basis.

(3)  Average portfolio yield is interest income divided by average managed finance receivables in the year. It does not consider fee income.
(4)  Funding costs are total interest costs over average financed receivables. Average cost of borrowing is total interest expense over average debt.
(5)  Net financing margin is net financing income divided by average managed finance receivables.
(6)  Finance receivables are stated before provisions for credit losses.
(7)  As the loan securitization was done on the last day of the year the ratios are not applicable this year.
(8)  Debt includes bank debt, unsecured debentures, convertible debenture and securitized debt.
(9)  Debt reflects the amount owing on securitized loans net of the cash reserve.

Net financing ratios are as follows:  

($000’s except ratios)
   2006    2005 
  Financial  Securitization  Financial  Securitization   
  Statement Trust(9) Managed(1) Statement Trust(7) Managed(1)

Balance Sheet  

Finance receivables at year end(6)  5,270   8,515   13,785   4,302  4,703  9,005
Average finance receivables for the year  4,818  5,761   10,579   6,949  -  6,949
Debt outstanding at year end(8)   4,427  7,140   11,567  2,607  4,201  6,808
Average debt for the year  3,544   5,153   8,697   5,705  -  5,705

Statement of Income  

Interest Income  1,121  1,394  2,515  1,688  -  1,688
Income from securitized assets(2)  1,853  -  -  1,078  -  -
Administration and other fees, 
 net of related costs   328   -  328  551  -  551 
Total revenues  3,302   1,394  2,843  3,317  -  2,239
Interest expense  417  375  792  484  -  484 
Net financing income  2,885  -  2,051  2,833  -  1,755

Ratios

Average portfolio yield(3)  23.27 % 24.20 % 23.77 % 24.30 % N/A  24.30 %
Net administration and fee income as  
 % of average managed receivables  N/A  N/A  3.10 % N/A  N/A  7.93 %
Funding costs(4)  8.66 % 6.51 % 7.49 % 6.97 % N/A  6.97 %
Net financing margin %(5)  59.88 % N/A  19.39 % 40.77 % N/A  25.25 %
Average cost of borrowing(4)  11.77 % 7.27 % 9.11 % 8.48 % N/A  8.48 %

NET FINANCING MARGIN

The net financing margin is net financial income divided 
by average managed finance receivables. Net financial 
income is finance revenues less interest expense. 
Finance revenues are derived from interest income and 
administration and fee income, net of related costs. RIFCO 
reports net financial income and net financing margin 
on both on-book and on a managed basis. Net financial 
income on a managed basis provides valuable information 
for industry comparisons and progress measurement. 
The managed basis treats the securitization as secured 

financings, whereby interest income would be earned on 
the receivables sold and interest expense is paid on the 
liabilities obtained through the securitization structure.

This presentation of net financial income does not 
comply with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles (GAAP) but is provided by management 
to allow for meaningful comparisons with other 
industry companies that may or may not participate in 
securitization transactions.
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INTEREST EXPENSE

Interest expenses in the year were paid on three classes of 
debt: bank loans, unsecured debentures and a convertible 
debenture. At year end, the bank loan carried an interest 
rate of prime plus 1.50%. The prime rate was 5.5% at year 
end which is an increase of 1.25% from the previous year. 
The unsecured debentures and convertible debentures 
are paid interest at 1.0% per month. Overall, the average 
borrowing cost increased from 8.48% to 9.11% in the 
year ending March 31, 2006.

In the year, RIFCO has completed eight securitization 
tranche sales and each had an interest rate locked in 
for the term of tranche. The effective average cost of 
borrowing for all securitized loans is 7.27%. The rate on 
future securitizations may vary depending on bond 
market conditions and securitization market conditions. 
RIFCO normally securitizes on a monthly basis. After 
considering the effect of not receiving the monies in the 
“retained interest cash reserve”, the true cost of funds for 
the actual funds received is 9.39%, an increase from 9.14% 

Delinquency and Losses

(000’s, except percentages)   

Credit losses, delinquency and provisions are as follows for the years ending March 31:

     2006   2005 
Managed finance receivables outstanding at year end(1)     13,785   9,005
Average managed finance receivables for the year     10,579   6,949
Delinquent finance receivables at year end(2)     323   389
Delinquency % at year end     2.33 %  4.32 %

Continuity of provision for credit losses  

Opening balance     515   206
Provision for credit losses     428   353
Provision related to securitized loans     447   300
Incurred losses for the year(3)     -628   -344
Provision for credit losses at year end     762   515

Continuity of provision for prepayment losses

Opening balance     100   0
Provision related to securitized loans     365   100
Incurred losses for the year(4)     -192   0
Provision for prepayment losses     273   100

Total provisions as % of managed finance receivables     7.51 %  6.83 % 
Annualized managed loss rate ($) (12 month average)     6.50 %  4.95 % 
Annualized default rate (#) (12 month average)     8.12 %  6.80 % 

(1)  Finance receivables include securitized loans and balances are before Provisions for losses. Managed finance receivables is a non-GAAP measurement.

(2)  Delinquent finance receivables are those over 30 days in arrears not including written off accounts which are classified as receivables over 90 days in arrears or  
 120 days if we are in possession of the security.

(3) Losses include all collection costs net of recoveries.

(4) Losses include interest repaid to the securitization trust on loans repaid early.

over the prior year’s true cost of funds for securitization. 
Securitization eliminates interest rate risk on the loans sold 
through matched funding of each tranche sold.

ANNUAL DEFAULT AND LOSS RATES

RIFCO is a non-prime consumer finance company. 
Accordingly, credit losses are a significant component 
of its cost of operations. Management believes it has 
maintained a portfolio yield and a reserve sufficient 
to assess the potential risk of loss. Losses are a trailing 
indicator of portfolio performance, and the impact of 
credit underwriting policy and collection practices may 
not be fully observed for up to 24 months. Management 
evaluates the allowance for credit loss requirements by 
product portfolios, taking into consideration current 
delinquencies, losses incurred on a static pool basis, 
credit policy, collateral valuations, economic factors and 
geographic distribution.
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The annualized loss rate is the calculation of losses 
incurred in the previous 12 months compared to our 
average managed receivables over the same period. 
The annualized loss rate is used to ensure that the net 
financing margin after losses and expenses is sufficient to 
contribute positively to income earned. The default rate 
is the calculation of the number of contracts written off 
in the previous 12 months over the average number of 
managed contracts outstanding during the same period. 
The default rate is an indication of the frequency of loss. 
The difference in the correlation between the default 
rate and the loss rate is an indication of the severity of 
the loss.

The collection function is a vital one for RIFCO. The 
company made tremendous headway in this area 
through improved collections personnel, techniques 
and new software implemented. These changes have 
improved efficiency, record keeping, customer service, 
and collector management. These positive changes 
have had a significant impact on delinquency with the 
loan arrears over 30 days reaching 2.33%, a reduction of 
1.99% over the prior year’s 4.32%. 

The annualized loss rate on managed receivables, 
which includes losses on assets held in securitization 
trusts at year end, has increased to 6.50% from 4.95% in 
2005. The annual loss rate was negatively impacted by 
the identification of a number of loans for which the 
pledged collateral had been seized and liquidated but 
a deficiency balance on the loan existed and had not 
been written off. We do not expect this upward trend of 
annualized losses to continue but instead see loan losses 
returning toward our annualized write-off target of 5.0%. 
This expectation is supported by the reduction of the 
rate to 6.50% from the reported 7.39% on December 
31, 2005. Over the last year we had a slight decrease in 
our provision for losses to 5.5% from 5.7% on a managed 
basis. This is a reflection of the improvements made in 
credit & collection processes. Management believes that 
its provision for credit loss is adequate. The provision for 
credit loss made for the securitized finance receivables 
is for the life of the pool. Over the last three years the 
Company’s write-off policy has been consistent.

The annualized default rate has increased from 6.80% to 
8.12%. This rate is a measure of frequency of loss. This is 
not unexpected as RIFCO’s portfolio becomes seasoned. 
It is of note that this rate remains favorable to industry 
comparables. This ratio can be negatively affected 
by early repayment of quality loans leaving a higher 
percentage of lower quality loans.

Upon default, the primary method of loan asset recovery 
is seizure and sale with disposal through wholesale 
auctions. Management has found asset liquidation values 
have strengthened over the last year which is consistent 
with general market conditions. Auction trend indicators 
are reporting an improving unit value trend.

ANNUAL PROVISION FOR PREPAYMENT LOSSES

In the 2005 annual report, the allowance for credit 
loss and prepayment losses on securitized loans were 
consolidated. We have elected to separate the two items 
to provide shareholders with a better understanding of 
how these allowances impact results. Loan securitization 
is, in effect, the sale of a revenue stream by which RIFCO 
receives a gain on the sale in advance of the income 
being generated. Prepayments affect the income stream 
of the securitized pool of loans sold. We expect and 
receive a number of prepayments on securitized loans 
and maintain a provision to cover the potential loss of 
income. The effect of loan prepayments on securitized 
loans is accounted for in the valuation of the retained 
interest. All loans to RIFCO’s borrowers may be paid out 
without penalty to the borrower.

PROVISION FOR CREDIT LOSSES

RIFCO maintains a provision for credit loss of the 
outstanding finance receivables which is adjusted 
quarterly after written off loans, recoveries and costs are 
accounted for. On securitized loan pools, an annualized 
loss rate is projected and offset against the retained 
interest reserve.

Repossession activities are performed by various service 
agencies. Vehicles are sold through auctions with their 
fees deducted from the net proceeds received on the 
sale.

RIFCO’s write-off policy is detailed & inflexible and is based 
on the following core premise: Loans are written off when 
they exceed 90 days in arrears or at 120 days if RIFCO is 
in possession of the collateral. Written off loan balances 
are continually pursued either through RIFCO’s employed 
collectors or through third party collection agency services. 
Recoveries are credited in accordance with GAAP. Finance 
receivables are secured by motor vehicle assets and are 
registered at the applicable provincial property registry.
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For the year ending March 31, 2006, total operating 
expenses increased by 24.1% over the same period in 
2005. While the Company is reporting a slight increase 
in office & administration costs, the largest increase was 
in wages as we averaged 5 more employees than in the 
prior year.

The efficiency ratio and operating expense ratio are 
measures of operating efficiency. The efficiency ratio is 
calculated as expenses divided by total gross revenue on a 
managed basis. The operating expense ratio is calculated 
as total expenses divided by average managed assets 
for the year. For each ratio, a lower reported percentage 

equates with a more efficient operation. RIFCO is 
showing improvement in the operating expense ratio 
which is expected to continue as the Company grows 
within the infrastructure in place. We expect to make 
positive headway on these ratios’s this year.

ASSET REVIEW

The Company’s growth momentum continued during 
the year ending March 31, 2006. Total assets increased by 
$2,949,445 to $8,930,436 at March 31, 2006, and when 
assets under securitization are included managed assets 
exceed $17.45M. 

Non-producing intangible assets have increased by 
$182,775 from $288,373 at March 31, 2005 to $471,148 
at March 31, 2006. As a percentage of total assets, the 

non-producing assets have increased to 5.3% from 4.8%. 
The intangible assets are 90.8% future tax benefits.

Operating Expenses  

(000’s, except number of employees and ratios) 

Details of operating expenses are as follows for the years ended March 31:

     2006   2005 
Wages and benefits     1,141   811
Professional fees     297   307
Office and general     444   400
Amortization     36   28 
Total operating expenses     1,918   1,546 
Average number of employees     21   16 
Total number of employees at year end     22   19

Ratios  

Labour costs per employee(1)     54.3   50.7
Total expenses per employee(1)     91.3   96.6
Efficiency ratio*#     67.46 %  69.04 %
Operating expense ratio#     18.13 %  22.25 %

(1) Based on average number of employees.

*  The efficiency ratio has been calculated on a managed basis, which excludes accounting income from securitized assets.

# Calculated on a managed assets basis. This is a non-GAAP measure. 
  
 

Intangible Assets  Annual 2006 Annual 2005 Annual 2004
Future Income Taxes  428,000 263,000 351,000
Deferred Financing Costs  43,148 25,373 40,740
Total  471,148 288,373 391,740
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FINANCE RECEIVABLES

The managed portfolio at March 31, 2006, of $13.78M, 
has increased by 53% from the $9.00M at March 31, 2005. 
The managed portfolio is the sum of finance receivables 
held on the balance sheet (before provision for loss) and 
finance receivables serviced by the Company which 
have been sold to a securitization trust. Factors such as 
the size and timing of securitizations, average receivable 
balance on the balance sheet, the blend of portfolio 
assets, underlying interest rates, financial leverage and 
losses impact the growth in revenue and earnings when 
compared to the growth in the managed receivables 
portfolio. Accordingly, the correlation between asset and 
income growth may not be direct.

Finance Receivable Breakdown & Growth  

(000’s except loan numbers)     

        Growth      
        Rate % 2006  2005 

Finance Receivables  

Repair receivables        28.46 % 5,321   4,142 
Purchase receivables        74.05 % 8,464    4,863 
Total managed receivables        53.08 % 13,785    9,005 
Repair receivables by %(1)        -7.4 % 38.6 % 46.0 %
Purchase receivables by %(1)        7.4 % 61.4 % 54.0 %

Repair loans (#)        0.10 %  1,951   1,932
Purchase loans (#)        34.60 % 887   659
Total managed loan (#)        9.50 % 2,838   2,591
Repair loans by %        -5.8 % 68.8 % 74.6 %
Purchase loans by %        5.8 % 31.2 % 25.4 % 

Loan originations ($)        32.9 % 12,988   9,771 
Credit applications received (#)        -13.9 % 5,524   6,412 

Average Loan Structure by Type  

     Original     Remaining  Interest  
   Original Size  Amortization   Outstanding  Amortization  Rate 
Automotive repair $ 2,383   24 months   $ 1,546  13 Months  27.80 %
Commercial repair $ 19,010   22 months   $ 14,410   15 Months  21.80 %
Vehicle purchase $ 11,686   43 months   $ 9,619   31 Months  22.90 %

(1)  This represents the percentage on a managed basis of total managed loans that breakdown as repair loans or vehicle purchase loans. 
  
 

RIFCO currently receives credit applications by facsimile 
through 3 primary channels: 1) auto repair facilities 2) 
commercial repair facilities and 3) selected new and 
used vehicle dealers. The Company continues to actively 
enroll new outlets in the four provinces it operates in and 
intends to increase its penetration over the next year. 
RIFCO will also be focusing on increasing site originations 
and network utilizations. Management considers those 
repairer/dealers as active if they have originated a loan to 
RIFCO in the previous 12 months. The RIFCO network is 
currently located 41% in Alberta, 30% in Ontario, 26% in 
British Columbia and 3% in Manitoba. The network’s active 
participants are distributed in the similar percentages.
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SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS

(000’s, except per share)
   2006        2005       
At Period End:    Q4  Q3  Q2  Q1  Q4  Q3  Q2  Q1 
Managed Finance Receivables(1)(4) 13,785  11,421  10,003  9,284  9,005  8,318  6,920  5,207
Total Assets 8,930  7,369  6,630  6,203  5,981  8,566  7,195  5,570
Total Liabilities 5,015  4,494  3,730  3,204  3,024  6,133  6,463  4,772
Shareholders Equity 3,915  2,875  2,900  2,999  2,956  2,433  732  798
Book Value per Share Outstanding(1)  $ 0.25  $ 0.21   $ 0.21  $ 0.22  $ 0.21  $ 0.18  $ 0.06  $ 0.07
Stock Price  $ 0.58  $ 0.50   $ 0.70  $ 0.88  $ 0.90  $ 0.97  $ 0.75  $ 0.58

For the Period:  

Finance Receivables Originated(1) 4,561  3,698  2,621  2,108  2,548  2,662  2,760  1,801
Total Revenues(4) 1,278  1,044  798  757  1,820  773  690  535
Net Income (Loss) 44  -76  -138  -75  561  -102  -89  -34
Active Enrolled Locations (#)(5) 670  639  691  652  643  603  565  490
Applications Processed (#) 1,689  1,287  1,255  1,293  2,549  1,493  1,386  984

Income per Common Share:  

Basic and Diluted  0.01  -0.01  -0.01  -0.01  0.05  -0.01  -0.01  0.00

Ratios:  

Return on Shareholders Equity(6) 1.53 % -2.62 % -4.60 % -2.54 % 23.06 % -13.93 % -11.15 % -4.19 %
Return on Average Earning Assets(2) 0.34 % -0.71 % -1.43 % -0.83 % 6.48 % -1.34 % -1.47 % -0.73 %
Managed Financial Leverage(2) 2.95:1 3.53:1 2.77:1 2.43:1 2.30:1 2.67:1 7.65:1 5.28:1
Average Cost of Borrowing(2) 9.13 % 8.96 % 8.64 % 9.27 % 8.79 % 8.75 % 8.00 % 8.16 %
Efficiency Ratio(2) 65.15 % 74.18 % 68.24 % 63.29 % 66.88 % 70.03 % 66.91 % 73.91 %
Operating Expense Ratio(2) 16.75 % 17.46 % 19.52 % 19.37 % 18.92 % 23.32 % 24.40 % 27.68 %
Delinquency over 30 days by $(2) 2.33 % 3.18 % 5.97 % 4.26 % 4.30 % 4.16 % 4.21 % 4.85 %
Average Loss Rate(2)(3)   6.50 % 7.39 % 6.32 % 5.28 % 4.95 % 4.39 % 5.37 % 4.23 %

(1)  Certain financial information may not be derived solely from our financial statements. The presentation is disclosed herein to permit more complete comparative  
 analysis of our performance relative to other companies. These indicators should not be considered a substitute or alternative to net income or cash flow that  
 are calculated on a GAAP basis. The managed basis includes balances and/or activities from our securitization trust, whereby receivables have been sold by us to  
 a securitization trust. We continue to service the receivables.

(2) Calculated on a managed basis. The managed basis, which is a non-GAAP measure, includes balances and/or activities from our securitization trust, whereby  
 receivables have been sold by us to a securitization trust. We continue to service the receivables. Where appropriate, ratios have been annualized.

(3)  Represents a 12 month weighted rolling average.

(4)  Q4-05 includes revenue from the company’s first loan securitization.

(5)  Enrolled locations are considered active if they have had a loan funded in the last twelve months. 

(6)  The return on shareholders equity is calculated on the prior quarters closing balance equity amount. 
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It was determined that interest revenue reported 
in Quarters one through three was understated by 
$27,117, as a result of interest being overstated on 

securitized loans. We have restated the Total Revenue 
in the three quarters as follows.

This change to each quarter has an effect on net income, 
shareholders equity and income tax. They also affect 
the relevant ratios that have all been adjusted in the 
Summary of Quarterly Results table. We also made a 
minor adjustment in the calculating of average finance 
receivables to not include accrued interest which was 
employed in the calculation of the revised ratios. There is 
no adjustment required to the March 31, 2005 financial 
statement, and in the upcoming year the revised 
quarterly numbers will be used as the comparative.

Over the year, the prime rate has increased by 1.25% to 
5.50% at year end. We have seen our cost of borrowing 
increase over the year at a similar rate and feel that our cost 
of borrowing will continue to mirror the prime rate trend. 

RIFCO is making operational progress as is evidenced 
by many positive trends. The most important, of course, 
is that losses in the first three quarters of the year were 
improved to profits in Q4. 

We are pleased to report the following substantial 
progress made between Q1 and Q4. Much of the credit 
is a result of the two strong management replacements 
put in place at the beginning of the year.

> Earnings before tax improved from an $88K loss to a  
 $175K profit

> Managed finance receivables increased by 48.5%

> Finance receivables originated increased by 116.4%

> Total revenues increased by 68.8%

> Applications processed increased by 30.6%

> Operating expense ratio improved by 2.62% of  
 average managed assets

> Delinquency over 30 days was reduced by almost 50%

Adjusted Total Revenue

  Reported Restated Variance 
Q1 – 2006  703,283 757,058 53,775
Q2 – 2006  822,956 798,135 (24,821 )
Q3 – 2006  1,046,318 1,044,481 (1,837 )
Total Change     27,117 
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

RIFCO funds finance receivables growth through the following methods:

> Equity

> Bank Debt

> Unsecured Debentures

> Convertible Debentures

> Securitization of Receivables 

Our capitalization at the end of each year is as follows:

(000’s)      
  2006  2005 

Current Debt

Bank loan 2,502  -
Warehouse Credit Facility -  -
Unsecured debentures 1,925  1,607

Long Term Debt  

Convertible debenture -  1,000
Total indebtedness on balance sheet(4) 4,427  2,607
Debt in securitization trusts(2) 7,140  4,201
Total managed indebtedness(1)(3) 11,567  6,808

Shareholders Equity

Share capital, warrants & options 4,328  3,255 
Contributed surplus 488  358
Retained earnings (Deficit) (901 ) (656 )
Total shareholders equity 3,915  2,957  
Total assets(5) 8,342  5,564 
Total managed assets 15,482  9,765 
Managed financial leverage 2.95:1  2.30:1

Shares outstanding  15,963,848  13,821,398 

(1)  Includes managed debt which is a non-GAAP measurement.

(2)  Debt includes the amount owing on securitized loans net of the cash reserve.

(3) Debt does not include capital leases.

(4) Includes bank loan, warehouse loan, unsecured debentures and convertible debentures.

(5) Total assets less accounts payable and accruals, servicing liability, taxes, payable and capital lease.
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The Company operated for most of the year with a $2.5M 
line of credit with a Canadian chartered bank. On March 
30, 2006, the Company commenced borrowing from 
BMO Bank of Montreal with a new $4.5M credit line. At 
year end this line of credit was drawn to $2.5M. This debt 
agreement is secured by a general security agreement 
and carried a rate of prime plus 1.50%. The line of credit 
is due on demand and subject to certain financial and 
operating covenants. The Company was compliant with 
all covenants at each respective chartered bank for the 
entire year.

In addition, RIFCO has available a warehouse credit facility 
for $2M from a special purpose trust entity at prime plus 
3.0%. This line is used exclusively for pre-securitization loan 
build up and was unused during the year.

The unsecured debentures have increased $317,681 to 
$1,924,715. These debentures yield the holders interest 
at 1.0% per month, which is paid monthly. The Company 
may retract the debts on 30 days notice and the holders 
may redeem it on 90 days notice subject to consent of 
the registered senior debt holder whose consent will not 
be unreasonably withheld. The Company is subject to 
certain financial covenants. The Company was compliant 
with all covenants for the entire year.

A convertible debenture for $1M which was to mature 
on May 31, 2006 was repaid in full on March 29th from 

available working capital. Both parties agreed on an early 
repayment before the scheduled maturity.

The Company obtained its first securitization facility in 
March of 2005 for $20M and during the term of the facility, 
$12.8M in loan receivables were successfully sold into 
that facility. The facility expired on March 31, 2006, and 
a new $20M facility was approved with the next renewal 
set for April 30, 2007. This year’s facility has similar terms. 
We expect long term availability of securitization facilities 
with increasing limits and improving terms & rates.

The facility is subject to delinquency, default, net loss, 
cash reserve requirements and financial and operating 
covenants that management feels are acceptable for the 
Company to continue to have availability of the facility. 
Non-compliance in any of these areas could restrict the 
Company from selling finance receivables into the trust. 
The Company was in compliance with all requirements 
throughout the year and received cash reserve payouts 
of over $660,000. 

The following table sets forth our long-term obligations 
as at March 31, 2006, and the timing of future payments 
under those obligations. The obligations include our 
operating leases for premises, equipment leases, 
unsecured debentures, bank debt and warehouse credit 
facility. 

Payments Due by Period

Contractual Obligations ($)  Total Less than 1 year 1-3 years 4-5 years After 5 years
Bank Debt  2,501,583 2,501,583 - - -
Warehouse Credit Facility  - - - - -
Unsecured Debentures(1)  1,924,715 1,924,715 - - -
Capital Lease Obligations(2)  18,479 12,222 6,257 - -
Purchase Obligations(3)  215,776 145,905 69,871 - -
Total Contractual Obligations   4,660,553 4,584,425 76,128 - -

(1)  Unsecured debentures have the option to be retracted with 90 days notice.

(2)  This represents office equipment leases.

(3)  Purchase obligations means an agreement to purchase goods or services that is enforceable and legally binding on the Company. All of the Company’s  
 obligations are in the areas of premises lease, investor relation service contracts and regulatory compliance consultants.
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SHAREHOLDER EQUITY

Shareholder equity increased by 32.4% to $3,914,978 
in the year compared to $2,956,498 in the prior year. 
Book value is $0.245 per share compared to $0.214 
per share in the prior year. Book value is a non-GAAP 
measurement but relays the increasing strength of 

  Annual 2006  Annual 2005  Annual 2004

Shareholders Equity  3,914,978  2,956,498  810,921
Shares Outstanding  15,963,848  13,821,398  11,472,108
Book Value per share $ 0.245 $ 0.214 $ 0.071

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number 
of common shares and an unlimited number of preferred 
shares. There are 15,963,848 common shares issued and 
outstanding as at March 31, 2006. The company has 
3,350,083 warrants outstanding as at March 31, 2006, with 
a weighted average exercise price of $0.97, and expiry 
dates no later than December 23, 2007. The company has 
1,219,291 options outstanding as at March 31, 2006, with a 
weighted average exercise price of $0.57 and expiry dates 
no later than December 12, 2010. Of the outstanding 
options 1,002,625 are fully vested. These warrants and 
options are exercisable into common shares on a one for 
one basis.

RISK FACTORS

Purchase of RIFCO shares is subject to a number of risks. 
In addition to the other information contained in the 
Annual Report, shareholders and prospective investors 
should give careful consideration to the following 
factors.

GENERAL

There are trends and factors that may be beyond 
management’s control which affect the Company’s 
operations and business. Such trends and factors include 
adverse changes in the conditions in the specific markets 
for RIFCO products and services, the conditions in the 
broader market for vehicle and consumer financing 
and the conditions in the domestic or global economy 
generally. Although the Company’s performance is 
affected by the general condition of the economy, not all 
of its service areas are affected equally. It is not possible 
for management to accurately predict economic 
fluctuations and the impact of such fluctuations on the 
Company’s performance.

CONSUMER PROTECTION LAWS AND GOVERNMENT 
REGULATIONS RISK

Numerous consumer protection laws and related 
regulations impose substantial requirements upon lenders 
involved in consumer finance. Also, federal and provincial 
laws impose restrictions on consumer transactions 
and require contract disclosures relating to the cost 
of borrowing and other matters. These requirements 
impose specific statutory liabilities upon creditors who 
fail to comply with their provisions. Courts have applied 
general equitable principles to secured parties pursuing 
repossession or litigation involving deficiency balances. 
These equitable principles may have the effect of relieving 
an obligor from some or all of the legal consequences of 
default.

RIFCO currently operates in an unregulated environment 
with regards to capital requirements. However, the 
Criminal Code of Canada imposes a restriction on the 
cost of borrowing in any lending transaction of 60%. 
The application of capital requirements or a reduction 
in the maximum cost of borrowing could impact our 
ability to operate profitably.

LENDING RISK

RIFCO’s receivables consist primarily of loans to “non-
prime” borrowers who may have had previous financial 
difficulties or may not yet have a sufficient credit 
history. These are borrowers that cannot meet the 
credit standards imposed by traditional lenders. There 
is a higher degree of risk associated with non-prime 
borrowers. For this reason, RIFCO charges higher rates 
and expects to experience higher levels of delinquencies 
and credit losses than traditional lenders. RIFCO 
cannot guarantee that delinquency and loss levels will 
correspond with historical levels experienced. There is 
risk that delinquency rates and loss rates could increase 
or decline significantly.

Company’s equity position and value per share. These 
increases were predominately due to equity issues which 
were completed at higher per share prices than the book 
value during the past year, compared to previous periods 
and the Company’s retained earnings. 
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RIFCO maintains a uniform set of credit standards for 
each loan product and a credit model to support the 
credit approval process. RIFCO utilizes risk-based pricing 
through its pricing matrix system to accurately reflect 
increasing levels of risk. Many applications are approved 
with a significant number of conditions, and many 
contracts are not funded due to the borrower’s inability 
to comply with approval conditions. 

RIFCO maintains a proactive position on collection of 
its finance receivables. The Company’s system collects 
payments electronically which provides for quick 
notification of delinquencies. Delinquent borrowers 
are normally contacted on the same day the Company 
learns that a payment has not cleared their account. 
RIFCO reports, to both credit reporting agencies, in order 
to provide customers with additional motivation to make 
timely payments.

For each loan granted, RIFCO affects a registered charge 
against the collateral through the Personal Property 
Security Acts (PPSA) in the applicable province. Any 
failure to affect such a registration as contemplated in 
the PPSA may result in our not perfecting a lien/ security 
interest position in the related financed vehicle, and 
may jeopardize the Company’s ability to realize on the 
collateral.

In addition to the payment performance of the obligor, 
certain factors may affect the ability to recoup the full 
amount due on a receivable include:

> Depreciation, damage or loss of any financed 
vehicle,

> Insufficient or no insurance coverage being 
maintained,

> Fraud or forgery by the persons financing their 
vehicle,

> Fraud by the repairer/dealer offering RIFCO 
financing,

> Priority liens on financed vehicles,

> The application of federal and provincial bankruptcy 
and insolvency laws.

Federal or provincial laws may prohibit, limit or delay 
repossession and sale of the vehicles to recover losses 
on defaulted contracts, as well as limit RIFCO’s right to 
sue for any deficiency.

LIQUIDITY RISK

In addition to working capital, RIFCO utilizes debt and 
securitization as sources of capital for financing contract 
originations. Certain debt providers have a general 
assignment over Company assets and require that RIFCO 

maintain certain financial covenants. Failure to maintain 
these financial covenants could result in the cancellation 
and demand of the debt facilities.

RIFCO currently has a significant amount of unsecured 
debentures which could be redeemed by the holder 
on 90 days notice. Liquidity could be affected if a large 
amount of these were redeemed and replacement funds 
could not be acquired. 

COMPETITION RISK

In the area of repair financing the Company has seen 
competition only on a sporadic basis. RIFCO’s repair 
finance products largest competitor remains cash and 
credit cards.

Vehicle purchase financing is a highly competitive market 
place. The companies that compete in this market place 
on a national level have significantly more financial, 
technical and human resources than RIFCO. They have 
solid reputations with dealers and debt providers and 
have greater market experience. 

Competitors are considerably larger and are funded at a 
lower cost than RIFCO can currently obtain. In many of 
RIFCO’s niches we do not directly compete, but there is 
no assurance that this will continue. 

PERSONNEL RISK

Certain RIFCO employees are key to its continued success. 
Should any of these persons be unable or unwilling to 
continue in their employment with the Company, there 
could be a material adverse effect on our delinquency, 
default, net loss rates, originations and financial results.

TECHNOLOGY RISK

RIFCO is dependent upon the successful and 
uninterrupted functioning of its computer and data 
processing systems. The failure of these systems could 
interrupt operations or materially impact management’s 
ability to originate and service customer accounts. If 
sustained or repeated, a system failure could negatively 
affect financial results.

RIFCO has an extensive disaster recovery plan, which 
includes:

> Routinely backing up key software applications

> Databases and hardware are subject to strict security 
controls

> Off site data back up storage with remote facility set 
up capabilities

Unforeseen information loss to the Company could occur. 
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ECONOMIC CONDITIONS RISK

RIFCO is subject to changes in general economic conditions 
that are beyond its control. During times of economic slow 
down or recession, RIFCO would generally expect to see 
higher delinquencies, defaults, repossessions and losses 
which could result in the following:

> Decreased consumer demand

> Increased market inventory of vehicles causing 
declining values

> Reduced returns on repossessed vehicles 

> Delayed timing on repossession sales

> Increase in collection staff to handle higher 
delinquency

> Increased operating expenses with potentially no 
revenue increase

> Sustained poor economic conditions could effect the 
liquidity of the Company

INTEREST RATE RISK

Although, RIFCO’s interest rate risk has declined due 
to its financing strategy of matched funding through 
securitizations, RIFCO does maintain variable rate debt. 

The Company also maintains a significant amount of 
unsecured debentures that carry a fixed rate of 12.683% 

annually. A high interest rate environment could cause 
redemptions. 

An increase in interest rates would have an effect 
on net financing margin through the pricing of our 
securitizations at the time of sale. Generally an increased 
rate environment would negatively affect RIFCO’s 
business as market conditions may limit the Company’s 
ability to increase rates charged.

NETWORK RISK

RIFCO purchases finance contracts through both 
independent repairers and selected automotive dealers. 
Each repairer/dealer is required to sign an agreement 
outlining the terms of conduct required to enable them 
to process applications to RIFCO. There is no recourse 
against a repairer/dealer for non-performance by the 
obligor. RIFCO maintains a network in four provinces, 
Alberta, Ontario, British Columbia and Manitoba with 41% 
of its network in Alberta. Management monitors portfolio 
originations, delinquencies and losses by repairer/dealer 
on a regular basis. Ongoing negative trends or an 
indication of misrepresentation by a repairer/dealer will 
result in the relationship being terminated. There is no 
guarantee that the network will continue to generate 
loan referrals at the current rate.



Finance Your Vehicle Repairs

• 1 hour approval

• No payment for 60 days

• No early payout penalty

• Guaranteed approval on  
 insurance deductibles

• Finance your own repairs  
 to avoid increased  
 insurance premiums

• Finance additional repairs  
 not covered by your claim
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The accompanying financial statements of RIFCO Inc. and all the information in this Annual Report are responsibility 
of management and have been approved by the Board of Directors.

The financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles. When alternative accounting methods exist, management has chosen those it deems 
most appropriate in the circumstances. Financial statements are not precise since they include certain amounts 
based on estimates and judgments. Management has determined such amounts on a reasonable basis in order 
to ensure that the financial statements are presented fairly, in all material respects. Management has prepared the 
financial information presented elsewhere in the Annual Report and has ensured that it is consistent with that in 
the financial statements.

RIFCO Inc. maintains systems of internal accounting and administrative controls of high quality, consistent with 
our size and with reasonable cost. Such systems are designed to provide reasonable assurance that the financial 
information is relevant, reliable and accurate and that the Company’s assets are appropriately accounted for and 
adequately safeguarded.

The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for financial reporting 
and is ultimately responsible for reviewing and approving the financial statements. The Board carries out this 
responsibility principally through its Audit Committee. The Audit Committee is appointed by the Board, and two 
thirds of its members are outside directors. The Committee meets periodically with management and the external 
auditors to discuss internal controls over the financial reporting process, auditing matters and financial issues, to 
satisfy itself that each party is properly discharging its responsibilities, and to review the Annual Report, the financial 
statements and the external auditors report. The Committee reports its findings to the Board for consideration when 
approving the financial statements for issuance to the shareholders. The committee also considers, for review by the 
Board and approval by the shareholders, the engagement or re-appointment of the external auditors. The financial 
statements have been audited by Collins Barrow, external auditors, in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
auditing standards on behalf of the shareholders. Collins Barrow has full and free access to the Audit Committee.

W.R. (Bill) Graham  L.A. (Lance) Kadatz
CEO, President & Director  CFO, Vice-President & Director

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY 
FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING 
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TO THE SHAREHOLDER OF RIFCO INC.

We have audited the consolidated balance sheet of RIFCO INC. as at March 31, 2006 and 2005, the consolidated 
statements of income (loss), deficit and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the 
responsibility of the Corporation’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are 
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
Corporation as at March 31, 2006 and 2005 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended 
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Chartered Accountants

Edmonton, Alberta 
May 19, 2006 

AUDITOR’S REPORT
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    2006  2005 

Assets

Cash     461,019    126,214
Miscellaneous receivable and prepaid expenses    91,034   278,420
Deferred financing costs     43,148   25,373
Finance receivables - net (note 3)     5,006,137   4,087,061
Retained interest in finance receivables securitized (note 4)    2,761,960   1,076,753
Property and equipment (note 5)     139,139   124,170
Future income taxes (note 13)     428,000   263,000 
   $ 8,930,437   5,980,991 

Liabilities

Bank indebtedness (note 6)    $ 2,501,583   -
Accounts payable and accruals     416,106   196,411
Servicing liability     120,595   82,825
Income taxes payable     33,981   108,679
Unsecured debentures (note 7)     1,924,715   1,607,034
Convertible debenture (note 8)     -   1,000,000
Obligation under capital lease (note 9)    18,479   29,544 
    5,015,459   3,024,493 
Commitments (note 17)
Contingency (note 19)

Shareholders’ Equity

Share capital (note 10)     3,666,587   2,665,319
Warrants (note 10)     661,126   589,716
Contributed surplus (note 12)     487,953   357,566
Deficit     (900,688 )   (656,103 )
    3,914,978   2,956,498 
   $ 8,930,437    5,980,991 

Approved by the Board:

W.R. (Bill) Graham  L.A. (Lance) Kadatz
CEO, President & Director  CFO, Vice-President & Director

See accompanying notes to financial statements

RIFCO INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
March 31, 2006
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RIFCO INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF DEFICIT
March 31, 2006

  2006   2005 
Deficit, beginning of year, as originally reported  $ (656,103 ) (761,435 )
Adjustments relating to adoption of Handbook section 3870   -   (230,914 )
Deficit, beginning of year, as restated   (656,103 )  (992,349 )
Net (loss) income   (244,585 )  336,246 
Deficit, end of year  $ (900,688 )  (656,103 )

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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  2006   2005 

Financial revenue

Loan interest  $ 1,121,393   1,687,591
Income from securitized assets (note 4)   1,852,878   1,077,741
Administration and other fees   903,273   1,052,791 
  3,877,544   3,818,123 

Financial expenses

Financing fees and insurance   574,735   502,473
Interest   417,419   483,511 
  992,154   985,984 

Net financial income   2,885,390  2,832,139 

Provision for credit losses (note 3)   427,952  312,845

Provision for credit losses on securitized loans (note 4)   446,500   300,000
Provision for prepayment losses on securitized loans (note 4)   275,500   100,000
Repossession and recovery costs   68,816   39,779 
  1,218,768   752,624 
Net financial income after provision for losses   1,666,622  2,079,515 

Operating expenses

Wages and benefits   1,141,323   810,959
Professional fees   296,665   307,356
Office and general   443,874   400,206
Amortization   36,193   28,069 
  1,918,055   1,546,590 
(Loss) income before taxes   (251,433 )  532,925
Income tax recovery (expense) (note 13)   6,848   (196,679 )
Net (loss) income   (244,585 )  $ 336,246 
Net (loss) income per share - basic and diluted (note 14)   (0.02 )  $ 0.03 

See accompanying notes to financial statements

RIFCO INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF (LOSS) INCOME
March 31, 2006
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RIFCO INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
March 31, 2006

  2006   2005 

Cash Provided By (Used For)

Operating activities

Net income (loss) for the year  $ (244,585 )  336,246
Add (deduct) items not affecting cash:
 Amortization   36,193   28,069
 Provision for credit losses   48,373   9,032
 Provision for credit losses on securitized loans   446,500   300,000
 Provision for repayment losses on securitized loans   275,500   100,000
 Loan interest accrual   5,393   (14,827 )
 Deferred financing costs   (17,775 )  15,367
 Deferred lease inducement   (6,036 )  6,223
 Stock based compensation   143,209   134,443
 Gain on disposal of capital lease  -   (6,182 )
 Income from securitized assets   (1,852,878 )  (1,077,741 )
 Warrants issued for services   -   30,577
 Future tax expense (recovery)   (165,000 )  88,000
Changes in non cash working capital (note 15)   338,419   (74,543 )
   (992,687 )  (125,336 )

Investing activities

Funds advanced on finance receivables   (12,988,237 )  (9,770,610 )
Principal collections on finance receivables   3,982,435   4,901,660
Reduction in retained interest credit losses   (248,173 )  -
Reduction in retained interest prepayment losses   (192,118 )  -
Proceeds from retained interest cash reserve   660,955   -
Proceeds from assets securitized, net of retained interest   7,295,737   4,386,946
Proceeds on disposal of equipment   -   11,000
Purchase of property and equipment   (51,161 )  (53,054 )
  (1,540,562 )  (524,058 )

Financing activities

Increase (decrease) in bank indebtedness   2,501,583   (1,420,764 )
Issuance of common shares and warrants   1,086,168   1,738,278
Share and warrant issuance costs   (26,313 )  (93,967 )
Proceeds from unsecured debentures   588,181   673,635
Repayments of unsecured debentures   (270,500 )  (178,500 )
Repayments of convertible debenture   (1,000,000 )  -
Repayments of obligation under capital lease   (11,065 )  (9,472 )
  2,868,054   709,210 
Increase in cash   334,805   59,816
Cash, beginning of year   126,214   66,398 
Cash, end of year  $ 461,019   126,214 

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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1 NATURE OF ACTIVITIES

RIFCO INC. is a specialty consumer loan corporation with a focus on the vehicle aftermarket. The corporation finances 
consumer and commercial automotive repairs and vehicle purchases.

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of RIFCO INC. and its wholly owned subsidiary Repair 
Industry Finance Corporation. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated.

The CICA has issued a new accounting guideline (AcG-15) entitled “The Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities”, 
which introduces a new consolidation model to determine control of another entity based on the potential variability 
of gains and losses of the entity being evaluated. The Corporation adopted this standard in the first quarter of fiscal 
2006. The Corporation is not required to consolidate the securitization structure under the new guideline thus there 
is no impact to the Corporation’s financial statements.

USE OF ESTIMATES

The financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles. The precise determination of many assets and liabilities are dependent on future events. As a 
result, the preparation of financial statements for a period involves the use of estimates and approximations, which 
have been made using careful judgement. The most significant accounts subject to estimations relate to the provision 
for credit losses, retained interest in finance receivables securitized and servicing liabilities. Actual results could differ 
from those estimates and approximations. The financial statements have, in management’s opinion, been properly 
prepared within reasonable limits of materiality and within the framework of the accounting policy.

DEFERRED FINANCING COSTS

The costs of obtaining long-term financing are deferred and amortized on a straight line basis over 60 months.

FINANCE RECEIVABLES

Finance receivables are recorded at their principal amounts, including accrued interest, less provision for credit 
losses. The company maintains a provision for credit losses at a level, which in the opinion of management, provides 
adequately for estimated current losses in the portfolio.

Management evaluates the provision for credit loss requirements by product portfolios taking into consideration 
current delinquencies, losses incurred on a static pool basis, credit policy, collateral valuations, economic factors and 
geographic distribution.

An account is considered a credit loss if an account becomes 90 or more days contractually delinquent or 120 days if 
the security is in the corporation’s possession, and as determined to be appropriate by management.

LOAN SECURITIZATION

The Corporation securitizes a portion of finance receivables by selling loans to a special purpose entity in which the 
Corporation is not a beneficiary. The purchase agreement requires a cash reserve account to be held back from the 
calculated purchase price which is classified as retained interest in finance receivables securitized. Upon completion of 
the sale, the Corporation de-recognizes the finance receivables and the related provision for credit losses, recognizes 
all assets obtained in consideration as proceeds of the sale, deducts transaction and servicing liabilities incurred and 
recognizes any gain or loss on the sale.

RIFCO INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
March 31, 2006
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

A gain or loss on sale is recognized in revenue at the time of the securitization. The gain or loss on sale depends in 
part on the previous carrying amount of the receivables involved in the transfer, allocated between the assets sold 
and retained interests based on their relative fair value at the date of transfer. The Corporation estimates fair value 
based on the present value of future expected cash flows using management’s best estimates of the key assumptions 
– credit losses and prepayment rates commensurate with the risks involved.

The finance receivables are sold on a fully serviced basis. Accordingly, upon each securitization the Corporation records 
a servicing liability to recognize the estimated future costs by the Corporation to service the sold receivable based on 
costs to service its retained receivables. The estimated costs form the basis of determination of the fair value of the 
servicing liability that is charged against the gain or loss at the time of recognizing the sale of securitized assets.

RETAINED INTEREST IN FINANCE RECEIVABLES SECURITIZED

The retained interest in finance receivables securitized represents the cash reserve deposit maintained with the 
special purpose entity at predetermined limits which represents the Corporation’s maximum exposure to losses on 
securitized receivables. The cash reserve is initially measured at its fair value, which is net of provision for losses based 
on management’s best estimates and reviewed quarterly for impairment.

SERVICING LIABILITY

The servicing liability is established at the time of the securitization. The servicing liability is amortized to income 
over the life of the securitized assets on a monthly basis determined by the number of loans and servicing life 
remaining. However, if subsequent events have increased the fair value of the liability above the carrying amount, 
the Corporation estimates and recognizes the increased obligation as a loss of revenue.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Amortization is provided on the declining balance basis over the 
estimated useful life of the assets. The annual rates of amortization are as follows:

Property and equipment  20%

Computer hardware and software  30%

Amortization is recorded at one half of the above rates in the year of acquisition.

Leasehold improvements are recorded at cost. Amortization is provided on the straight line basis over five years.

FUTURE INCOME TAXES

The Corporation applies the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, future 
income tax assets and liabilities are determined based on “temporary differences” (differences between the accounting 
basis and tax basis of the assets and liabilities), and are measured using the currently enacted, or substantively enacted, 
tax rates and laws expected to apply when these differences reverse. A valuation allowance is recorded against any 
future income tax asset if it is more likely than not that the asset will be not be realized.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The Corporation has an Employees’ Stock Option Plan which is disclosed in Note 10 of the consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended March 31, 2006. The Corporation accounts for its grants under the plan and stock option 
awards granted using the fair value based method of accounting for its stock-based compensation. The fair value of the 
options are accrued at the date of grant and charged to operating expenses, with an offsetting credit to contributed 
surplus, on a straight line basis over the vesting period. If and when the stock options are ultimately exercised, the 
applicable amounts of additional paid-in capital and contributed surplus are transferred to share capital.

RIFCO INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
March 31, 2006
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Loan interest income is recorded on an accrual basis. Recognition of interest income is suspended for finance 
receivables that have been considered credit losses. Loan fee income related to the origination of loans is recognized 
when the finance receivable is recorded. Fees for non-sufficient funds and collection fees are recognized when the 
amounts are collected. Enrolment fees are recognized upon enrolment of new dealers and repairers.

IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS

The Corporation reviews deferred financing costs and property and equipment for impairment whenever events or 
circumstances arise that indicate that the carrying value amount may not be recoverable. Recoverability is assessed 
by comparing the carrying amount of the asset or group of assets to its fair value, as determined by the undiscounted 
future cash flows the long-lived assets are expected to generate. An impairment loss is recognized in the period 
where the carrying amount exceeds the fair value.

There were no conditions in the current year that indicated that the carrying value of long-lived assets exceed their 
fair value.

3 FINANCE RECEIVABLES - NET

Net finance receivables consist of vehicle repair loans, vehicle purchase loans and commercial vehicle repair loans 
which generally have terms of 12 to 72 months with fixed rates of interest. The Corporation’s experience has shown 
that a portion of contracts will be paid in full prior to the loan maturity date or the loans may be sold to a securitization 
trust (see note 4). Accordingly, the maturities of finance receivables shown in the table below are not to be regarded 
as a forecast of future cash collections. At March 31, loan payments, including principal and interest due under 
finance receivable are as follows:

   2006  2005 
 2006  $  -   3,099,238
 2007   3,257,840   1,791,406
 2008   1,771,214   457,135
 2009   663,030   99,921
 2010   556,573   33,830
 2011 and subsequent years   892,558   - 
Gross finance receivables    7,141,215   5,481,530
 Less: unearned interest income    (1,871,597 )  (1,179,361 )
Finance receivables    5,269,618   4,302,169
 Less: provision for credit losses    (263,481 )  (215,108 )
Net finance receivables   $  5,006,137   4,087,061 

RIFCO INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
March 31, 2006
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FINANCE RECEIVABLES - NET CONTINUED

Interest rates vary by product: automotive repair loans 27.8%, commercial repair loans 21.8% and vehicle purchase 
loans 14.5% to 29.9% per annum. At year end the portfolio was made up of 49% repair loans, 9% commercial repair 
loans and 42% vehicle purchase loans by dollar amount.

A summary of the activity in the provision for credit losses is as follow:

   2006    2005  
Balance, beginning of year   $  215,108    206,076
Provision for credit losses    427,952    312,845
Accounts written off, net of recoveries   (379,579 )   (303,813 ) 
Balance, end of year   $  263,481    215,108  
Provision as a percentage of finance receivables   5.0 %  5.0 %

4 TRANSFERS OF RECEIVABLES

During the year, the Corporation renewed an agreement, which enabled the Corporation to transfer certain finance 
receivables at a price determined by the agreement. The agreement allows for transfers of loans from time to 
time up to a total facility amount of $20 million. The agreement expires on April 30, 2007. The agreement requires 
the Corporation administer and collect the loans that were sold on behalf of the purchaser without additional 
compensation. The securitization agreement calls for a 15% to 25% cash reserve to be held back from the purchase 
price at the time of sale, depending on loan term, product and credit grade, which is the Corporation’s maximum 
exposure to losses on the securitized receivables. The agreement provides for release of funds out of the reserve to 
the Corporation when the balance is in excess of a predetermined calculated maximum. The agreement also requires 
the Corporation to maintain a cash reserve minimum balance.

Retained interest in finance receivable securitized   
  March 31, 2006  March 31, 2005 
Balance, beginning of period  $  1,076,753   -
Additions to retained interest on loans securitized   2,677,784   1,476,753
Proceeds from retained interest cash reserve   (660,955 )  -
Interest earned from retained interest cash reserve   40,087
Provision for credit losses on securitized loans   (446,500 )  (300,000 )
Provision for prepayment losses on securitized loans   (275,500 )  (100,000 )
Writedown of retained interest   (90,000 )  -
Actual credit losses on securitized loans   248,173   -
Actual prepayment losses on securitized loans   192,118   - 
Balance, end of period  $  2,761,960   1,076,753 

Income from securitized loans   

  March 31, 2006  March 31, 2005 
Gain on sale of finance receivables  $  1,980,648   1,160,566
Writedown of retained interest   (90,000 )  -
Period end adjustment of servicing liability   (37,770 )  (82,825 )
Income from securitized assets  $  1,852,878   1,077,741 

RIFCO INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
March 31, 2006
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TRANSFERS OF RECEIVABLES CONTINUED

During the year, the Corporation sold tranche of loans with a book value of $8,032,959 for proceeds of $9,988,113 
less professional fees and other transaction costs of $14,593. The sold loans were de-recognized as an asset, with the 
exception of the retained interest in securitized loans of the Corporation, and proceeds net of servicing liability accrual 
of $111,358 and professional fees and other transactions costs of $14,593 are recognized as revenue in the year.

Key economic assumptions used in measuring the retained interest at the date of the securitization completed 
during the year were as follows:

   March 31, 2006    March 31, 2005  
Net finance receivable sold  $  8,032,959    4,703,132
Prepayment rate   15-25 %  10-16.5 %
Weighted average remaining life (in years)   2.8    2.3
Provision for credit losses   5.6 %  5 %
Servicing liability recognized at sale date  $  111,358    82,825
Total retained interest in finance receivables securitized  $  3,533,669    1,476,753
Provision related to credit losses and prepayments   (771,709 )   (400,000 ) 
Net retained interest in finance receivable securitized  $  2,761,960    1,076,753  

Balances and activity in the securitization trusts as at year end are as follows:

   March 31, 2006    March 31, 2005  
Finance receivables at period end  $  8,514,607    4,703,132
Finance receivables, arrears over 30 days at period end  $  211,627    -
Finance receivables %, arrears over 30 days   2.5 %  -
Balance outstanding at period end  $  10,664,686    5,907,014
Actual credit losses on securitized loans  $  248,173    -  

RIFCO INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
March 31, 2006
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5 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
     Accumulated  Net Book 
2006  Cost  Amortization  Value
Property and equipment  $  113,923  36,800 77,123
Computer hardware   64,721  33,805  30,916
Computer software   39,659  16,518  23,141
Leasehold improvements   13,490  5,531  7,959
  $  231,793  92,654  139,139

     Accumulated  Net Book 
2005  Cost  Amortization  Value
Property and equipment  $  90,883  20,399  70,484
Computer hardware   54,080  22,836  31,244
Computer software   25,267  9,685  15,582
Leasehold improvements   10,403  3,543  6,860
  $  180,633  56,463  124,170

Property and equipment includes $38,828 (accumulated amortization - $12,611) of equipment held under capital 
lease (March 31, 2005 cost $38,828, accumulated amortization $6,057).

6 BANK INDEBTEDNESS

The Corporation has a $4,500,000 line of credit with an interest rate of prime (currently 5.5%) plus 1.5% and is due on 
demand. The Corporation has provided a general security agreement over all assets as security over this loan. The 
bank indebtedness was $2,501,583 at year end (March 31, 2005 the line of credit was unused).

The Corporation has an additional $2,000,000 warehouse credit line with an interest rate of prime plus 3.00% (which 
can be used exclusively for pre- securitization loan build up). This facility was not used during the year.

7 UNSECURED DEBENTURES

The debentures are unsecured, with no maturity date and bear interest at 1% per month. The debt may be redeemed 
by the Corporation with 30 days notice. The debt may be retracted by the debt holder with 90 days notice.

As the timing of the cash flows are not certain, the Corporation is not able to provide fair value information surrounding 
these financial instruments.

8 CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURE

The $1,000,000 convertible debenture was redeemed for cash by RIFCO Inc. on March 29, 2006.

RIFCO INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
March 31, 2006
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9 OBLIGATION UNDER CAPITAL LEASE
   2006  2005
Obligations related to leased office equipment, payable in monthly instalments 
of $1,109, final instalments due on March 2007 and December 2007.   $  18,479  29,544
Minimum lease payments due in the remaining two years are as follows:
 2007   13,313
 2008   6,428
   19,741
 Amount representing interest at 7% to 17%   1,262
  $  18,479

10 SHARE CAPITAL AND WARRANTS

Authorized:

Unlimited number of common shares
Unlimited number of preferred shares

Issued Common Shares    Number  Amount

Balance at March 31, 2004    11,472,108  $  1,572,356

Shares issued for cash in 2005    2,292,500    1,132,069
Options exercised in 2005    56,790    26,694
Share issuance costs in 2005    -    (65,800 )
Balance at March 31, 2005    13,821,398   $ 2,665,319

Shares issued for cash in 2006    2,000,000    926,748
Options exercised in 2006    42,450    33,991
Warrants exercised in 2006    100,000    65,000
Share issuance costs in 2006    -   (24,471 )
Balance at March 31, 2006    15,963,848   $  3,666,587 

Warrants

Balance at March 31, 2004   100,000    -
Issued for cash in private placement in 2005   2,292,500    587,306
Issued in exchange for service in 2005   57,583    30,577
Warrant issuance costs in 2005   -    (28,167 )
Balance at March 31, 2005   2,450,083   $ 589,716

Issued for cash in private placement in 2006(a)   1,000,000    73,252 
Warrant exercised in 2006   (100,000 )   -
Warrant issuance costs in 2006      (1,842 )
Balance at March 31, 2006   3,350,083   $  661,126 

Total Common Shares and Warrants   19,313,931   $  4,327,713 
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SHARE CAPITAL AND WARRANTS CONTINUED

(a)  During the 2006 year, the Corporation closed on a private placement offering which raised proceeds of $1,000,000 
through the issuance of 2,000,000 units. Each unit consisted of one common share of the Corporation and one-
half share purchase warrant. Each warrant may be exercised to acquire one common share of the Corporation 
at an exercise price $1.00 with a term of 18 months. The proceeds were allocated between shares and warrants 
based on their respective fair values using the Black-Scholes pricing model. The average principle assumptions 
used in applying the Black-Scholes pricing model were used as follows:

 Risk free interest rate  4.0 %

 Expected lives (years)  1.5

 Expected volatility  70.0 %

 Dividend yield  -

A summary of the Corporation’s warrants outstanding at the end of the year are as follows:

   Number of Warrants  Expiry Date   Exercise Price
   57,583  December 22, 2006  $  0.75
   1,000,000  October 4, 2007   1.00
   1,716,667  December 1, 2007   1.00
   400,000  December 21, 2007   0.75
   175,833  December 23, 2007   1.00
   3,350,083   $  0.97

STOCK OPTIONS AND STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLAN 

The Corporation has a stock option plan under which directors, officers, employees and consultants of the Corporation 
and of its subsidiaries are eligible to receive stock options. The aggregate number of shares to be issued upon the 
exercise of all options granted under the plan shall not exceed 10% of the issued shares of the Corporation at the 
time of granting the options. The maximum number of common shares optioned to any optionee shall not exceed 
5% of the outstanding common shares of the Corporation. Options granted under the plan generally have a term of 
five years but may not exceed five years and vest at terms to be determined by the directors at the time of grant. The 
exercise price of each option shall be determined by the directors at the time of the grant but shall not be less than 
the price permitted by the policy or policies of the stock exchange(s) on which the Corporation’s common shares 
are then listed.

During the 2006 year, the Corporation issued 100,000 options to a new director at an exercise price of $0.70 with 
one third vesting immediately, one third after 12 months and one third after 24 months and a term of 5 years. 
An additional 150,000 options were granted to new officers with an exercise price of $0.71 with one third vesting 
immediately, one third after 12 months and one third after 24 months and a term of 5 years.

During the 2006 year, the Corporation issued 74,328 (2005 – 52,298) options to employees under this plan with a weighted 
average exercise price of $0.57 per share (2005 – $0.52) with a one year term and immediate vesting. Subsequent to the 
year end, 10,474 stock options were granted to employees with an exercise price of $0.44 per share.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND WARRANTS CONTINUED

A summary of the Corporation’s stock options at the end of the year are as follows:

     Weighted Average 
  Shares   Exercise Price
Outstanding at March 31, 2004   1,015,940   $  0.56
Granted during the year   202,298   0.65
Exercised during the year   (56,790 )   0.33
Outstanding at March 31, 2005   1,161,448   0.58
Granted during the year   324,328   0.67
Exercised during the year   (42,450 )   0.50
Expired during the year   (224,035 )   0.66
Outstanding at March 31, 2006   1,219,291  $  0.60
Options exercisable at March 31, 2006   1,002,625  $  0.57

A summary of the status of the company’s stock options outstanding at March 31, 2006 is as follows:

Date issued  # Granted  # Vested   Exercise Price  Expiry Date
May 30, 2001  133,750  33,750  $  0.30  May 30, 2006
April 1, 2003  500,000  500,000   0.65  April 1, 2008
Feb 1, 2004  130,000  130,000   0.40  Jan 31, 2007
Dec 21, 2004  150,000  100,000   0.70  Dec 21, 2009
Apr 1, 2005  2,955  2,955   0.72  April 1, 2006
Apr 15, 2005  75,000  25,000   0.71  April 15, 2010
May 12, 2005  75,000  25,000   0.71  May 12, 2010
July 1, 2005  3,880  3,880   0.88  July 1, 2006
Oct 1, 2005  28,366  28,366   0.70  Oct 1, 2006
Dec 1, 2005  100,000  33,334   0.70  Dec 12, 2010
Jan 1, 2006  20,340  20,340   0.40  Jan 1, 2007
Total  1,219,291  1,002,625

The weighted average fair value of the options as of the grant date during the year is $0.67 per share (2005 - $0.63) 
and the weighted average remaining life of the options at year end is 2.32 years (2005 – 2.8 years).
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SHARE CAPITAL AND WARRANTS CONTINUED

The corporation has recognized a stock-based compensation expense of $143,209 during the current year. Included 
in professional fees is $62,696 (2005 - $118,004) related to director and non-employee options. Included in wages and 
benefits is $80,513 (2005 - $16,439) related to employee options. The fair value of each option granted is estimated on 
the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes model with weighted average assumptions for grant as follows:

 2006   2005 
Risk free interest rate  3.5 %  3.5 %
Expected lives (years)  4.08   4.0
Expected volatility  81.7 %  108.6 %
Dividend yield     -   - 

11 FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The following table presents the estimated fair values of the Corporation’s financial assets and financial liabilities:

     2006     2005  
   Carrying Value   Fair Value   Carrying Value   Fair Value 

Financial assets
Cash   $ 461,019  $  461,019   $  126,214   $  126,214
Miscellaneous receivables   271,791   271,791    278,420    278,420
Finance receivables - net   5,006,137   (a )   4,087,061    (a )
Retained interest in finance 
 receivable securitized   2,761,960   3,173,960    1,076,753    1,476,753

Financial liabilities
Bank indebtedness   2,501,583   2,501,583    -    -
Accounts payable and accruals   450,086   450,086    305,090    305,090
Obligations under capital lease   18,479   18,479    29,544    29,544
Convertible debenture   -   -    1,000,000    1,000,000
Unsecured debentures   1,924,715   1,924,715    1,607,034    1,607,034 

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instruments:

For certain of the Corporation’s financial instruments, including cash, miscellaneous receivables, accounts payable 
and accruals, obligations under capital lease and bank indebtedness, the carrying values approximate their fair values 
due to the immediate or short term maturity of these financial instruments. The fair value of the retained interest in 
finance receivables securitized was determined by discounting the expected residual cash flows from securitization 
at rates commensurate with the risks involved (see note 4).

(a)  The fair value of net finance receivables is calculated by discounting the estimated future cash flows of the 
portfolio at rates commensurate with the underlying risk of assets, net of a provision for credit losses at the 
consolidated balance sheet dates. Management’s estimate of fair value is presented as a range of the values as, 
currently, there is no organized market for valuing the loan portfolio.
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FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES CONTINUED

   2006  2005 
 Discount Rate   Fair Value Discount Rate    Fair Value
Upper value  15.0 % $ 5,770,359  20.0 %  $ 4,687,355
Lower value   17.0 %   5,627,230  23.0 %   4,575,073

12 CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS

During the year, an additional $143,209 was credited to contributed surplus as a result of the Corporation issuing 
additional stock options and $12,822 was debited to contributed surplus as a result of options being exercised.

13 INCOME TAXES

The income tax benefit differs from the amount computed by applying the Canadian statutory rates to the income 
(loss) before income taxes for the following reasons:

    2006    2005 

Tax benefit at Canadian statutory rate of 33.62% (2005 – 33.62%)   $  (84,530 )   179,170
Non-deductible costs     3,910    5,429
Non-deductible stock option compensation    48,150    45,200
Deductible share issuance costs    (10,750 )   (33,120 )
Other     (7,518 )   -
Provision for tax reassessment    43,890    - 
Income tax expense (recovery)   $  (6,848 )   196,679 

Allocation of provision
Current     158,152    108,679
Future     (165,000 )   88,000 
Provision (recovery) of income taxes   $  (6,848 )   196,679 

Subsequent to March 31, 2006, both the Federal and Alberta budgets have proposed tax rate changes which if 
passed, would result in a combined tax rate of 29% which would be expected to be in effect when the future tax 
assets are realized.
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INCOME TAXES CONTINUED

Future income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. The components of future 
tax assets are as follows:

  2006   2005 
Difference in book and tax basis for property and equipment  $  (6,900 )  (7,100 )
Provision for credit losses and retained interest   348,000   206,800
Deferred lease inducement   6,900   9,000
Servicing liability reserve   40,500   27,800
Capitalized share issuance costs   33,700   26,500
Loss carry forwards   5,800   - 
 $  428,000   263,000 

The Corporation has available loss carry forward amounting to $18,256 that may be carried forward and have expiry 
dates ranging from 2010 to 2016.

14 NET INCOME (LOSS) PER COMMON SHARE

The net income (loss) per common share has been calculated based on the weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding for the period ended March 31, 2006 of 13,950,114 (March 31, 2005 – 12,158,354). Diluted earnings 
per share are calculated using the treasury stock method which takes into consideration the potentially dilutive 
effect of the exercising of share options, warrants and conversion of the convertible debenture. Diluted earnings per 
share were equal to basic earnings per share as the effect of the share options, warrants and convertible debenture 
would be anti-dilutive.

15 STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Changes in Non-Cash Working Capital

  2006   2005 
Miscellaneous receivable and prepaid expenses  $  187,386   (198,741 )
Accounts payable and accruals   225,731   15,519
Income taxes payable   (74,698 )  108,679 
 $  338,419   (74,543 )

Cash flows from income taxes and interest are as follows:

  2006   2005 
Interest paid  $  417,419   502,048
Income taxes paid   158,152   108,679 
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16 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Included in the unsecured debenture balance throughout part of the year was $200,000 (2005 - $200,000) of 
debentures owing to a director. Interest expense during the year on this debenture was $8,000 (2005- $32,148). 
The debenture was repaid to the director in July 2005. A senior manager (non-director) of the corporation has a 
debenture for $50,000 under the same terms as all debt holders.

These transactions are in the normal course of operation and are measured at the exchange amount, which is the 
amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.

17 COMMITMENTS

The Corporation has entered into a lease commitment for its business premises until November 30, 2008 with 
monthly payments of $8,494 until November 30, 2007 and $8,734 from December 1, 2007 to November 30, 2008.

The Corporation has entered into a contract for investor relations with monthly commitments of $3,210 per month 
until January 2007.

18 SEGMENTED INFORMATION

The Corporation operates in Canada and has one operating segment. The accounting policies of the segment are the 
same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies.

19 CONTINGENCY

A provision has been included on the financial statements to Canada Revenue Agency for $43,890. This is in 
association to a reassessment on the corporation’s non-capital loss for 2003 and 2005 Corporate Income Tax. A notice 
of objection has been filed and an appeal has been made on this reassessment.

20 COMPARATIVE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements as at March 31, 2005 and for the year then ended were audited by other auditors, who 
expressed an opinion without reservation on those statements in their report date May 17, 2005.

The comparative financial statements have been reclassified from statements previously presented to conform to 
the presentation of the 2006 financial statements.
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The Board of Directors has adopted a Corporate Governance Plan which clearly 
defines the role and the relationship between, the Board of Directors and 
Management. The guidelines address matters such as the constitution and 
independence of the Board, the functions to be performed by the Board and 
its committees, and the effectiveness and education of board members. RIFCO 
maintains a majority independent board.

We will continue to seek additional board candidates that can provide valuable 
expertise and share the values of the Board.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

William (Bill) R. Graham Management

For RIFCO’s first two and a half years, Mr. Graham held the role of VP/COO. He is 
a co-founder and brings over 10 years experience as a management consultant 
specializing in R&D, Strategic Partnerships, software systems and business 
implementation plans. 

Lance A. Kadatz Management

Mr. Kadatz was the President of his own Business Advisory Services firm before 
joining RIFCO. He also served as a Finance Advisory Services Manager for the 
largest regional accounting firm in Canada. For seventeen years he served as a 
Sr. Corporate Account Manager for the Royal Bank of Canada.

Bruce Phillips Independent

Mr. Phillips is a co-founder of the Capital Pool Corporation, Vista Investments Inc, 
that was renamed RIFCO Inc. after a qualifying transaction. He joined the board 
after the reverse take over. Mr. Phillips is a business consultant working in the oil 
services industry. He has served on numerous public company boards.

Attended 4 of 4 Board meetings

Director, President and  
Chief Executive Officer of RIFCO Inc.

Attended 4 of 4 Board meetings

Director, Vice President and Chief 
Financial Officer of RIFCO Inc.

Attended 4 of 4 Board meetings

Director

“Governance is the systems and 
processes for ensuring proper 

accountability, integrity and 
openness in the conduct of an 

organization’s business through 
which shareholders assure that 
their assets are administered to 

their satisfaction.”
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENTCORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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William Crawford Independent

Mr. Crawford is a co-founder of the Capital Pool Corporation, Vista Investments 
Inc that became RIFCO Inc., and joined our board after the reverse take over. 
Mr. Crawford owns a General Insurance Agency.

Johannes J. Nieuwenburg Independent

Mr. Nieuwenburg is currently active as a corporate director. He was formerly 
President and CEO of Petromet Resources Limited, and he is a professional 
engineer by training. He brings 25 years of diverse experience including 
senior technical, business development, and executive management roles. 
He currently serves as Chairman for C1 Energy Ltd (TSX) and Capitol Energy 
Resources Ltd (TSX.V). He is also a Director on the boards of NAV Energy Trust 
(TSX), Verenex Energy Inc. (TSX.V) and Fairborne Energy Trust (TSX), and he also 
serves as Chairman of a private company in the energy business. 

David Mears Independent

Mr. Mears is the current President & CEO of BrazAlta Resources Corp (TSX.V) 
and serves as Chairman of Sierra Vista Energy Ltd (TSX.V) and Director of Radar 
Acquisitions Corp (TSX.V). Mr. Mears has over a decade of capital markets 
experience and was a member of the Investment Banking group of Wolverton 
Securities Ltd. 

Attended 4 of 4 Board meetings

Director

Attended 4 of 4 Board meetings

Director

Attended 1 of 1 Board meeting

Director  
(appointed December 12, 2005)
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

DIRECTORS

William R. Graham
President, Chief Executive Officer, RIFCO Inc.

Lance A. Kadatz(1)

Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, 
RIFCO Inc.

Bruce Phillips(1)(2)

Business Consultant

Bill Crawford(1)(2)

Crawford Insurance Agencies

Johannes (Jim) J. Nieuwenburg(2)

Chairman of the Board, C1 Energy Ltd (TSX) 
and Capitol Energy Resources Ltd (TSX.V)

David Mears
President & CEO, BrazAlta Resources Corp.  
(TSX.V)

(1) Audit Committee Member

(2) Governance and Compensation Committee  
 Member

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT 
TEAM

William R. Graham
President and Chief Executive Officer

Lance A. Kadatz
Vice President, Chief Financial Officer

Monte Coates
Vice President of Operations

Doug Decksheimer
Vice President of Marketing

CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS 

Suite 500, 5000 Gaetz Avenue 
Red Deer, Alberta T4N 6C2 
Canada

1-888-303-2001

ANNUAL MEETING

The annual meeting of the 
Company will be held on 
September 7, 2006, at 3:00 PM at 
Calgary Chamber of Commerce, 100 
6th Avenue S.W. Calgary, Alberta. All 
shareholders are cordially invited to 
attend.

INVESTOR RELATIONS 
INFORMATION

For financial/investment data and 
general information about RIFCO 
Inc. contact:

The Howard Group Inc 
Grant Howard and David Gordon 
President and Senior Associate

Telephone: 1-888-221-0915 
Fax: 1-888-237-8387 
Email: info@howardgroupinc.com 
Website: www.howardgroupinc.com

Lance A. Kadatz
Chief Financial Officer

Toll Free 1-888-303-2001 
Toll Free Fax 1-888-303-2181 
Email kadatz@rifco.net 
Website: www.rifco.net 

REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER 
AGENT 

Computershare Trust Company of 
Canada

600, 530 – 8th Avenue S.W. 
Calgary, Alberta T2P 3S8 
Canada

AUDITORS 

Collins Barrow Edmonton LLP

Chartered Accountants & 
Consultants

1550 Allstream Tower 
10250 – 101 Street N.W. 
Edmonton, Alberta T5J 3P4 
Canada

LEGAL COUNCIL 

Davis & Company LLP

3000 Shell Centre, 
400 – 4th Avenue S.W. 
Calgary, Alberta T2P 0J4 
Canada

REGULATORY COMPLIANCE 
CONSULTANTS

Global Corporate Compliance Inc

Suite 310, 441 – 5th Avenue SW 
Calgary, Alberta T2P 2V1 
Canada
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Transparency

Shareholders have the right to clearly understand the 
financial position of the Company, its progress to date, 
and the strategic plan for the future. To these ends, 
RIFCO will strive for plain language, common sense, 
and appropriate detail in shareholder communications. 
RIFCO believes there can be no effective governance 
without transparency.

Earnings Growth

Shareholders expect long term, sustainable growth. To 
these ends, RIFCO will plan or operate on reasonable 
business planning timeframes and will not make 
decisions that sacrifice the long term health of the 
Company in order to meet short term expectations. 
RIFCO will demonstrate the validity of its business model 
as operations are scaled up.

Dilution 

Shareholders expect that additional shares of the 
Company be issued only as needed to appropriately 
finance the growth of the Company. To this end, RIFCO 
will not indiscriminately offer shares below reasonable 
price levels. It is intended that debt leverage will be used 
to optimize return on shareholder equity.

Investment 

Shareholders expect their capital to be invested wisely 
and for RIFCO’s management to work hard to create a 
sound and profitable business for their benefit. To this 
end, RIFCO will expand at a rate where credit quality 
is preserved, margins are maintained, and expenses 
are managed. RIFCO is committed to “lend it… don’t 
spend it”

Humility 

Shareholders expect performance and consistency. 
To this end, RIFCO will implement its business model 
with knowledge that economic situations change, and 
business cycles are not static. In short, RIFCO operates 
knowing there will be “ups and downs”

Share Price

Shareholders expect reasonable share price appreciation 
in the value of the Company’s stock. To this end, RIFCO 
will continue to seek appropriate opportunities to share 
our Company’s exciting story with the investment 
community. However, RIFCO is committed to the most 
important investor relations tool… profitability.

RIFCO remains committed to the owners of the Company, its Shareholders. The Shareholders are 
the owners of the Company. RIFCO’s commitment is comprised of 6 parts:
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Suite 500, 5000 Gaetz Avenue  Red Deer Alberta Canada  T4N 6C2
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